2009

# Kenneth Bowdrey v. Workforce Appeals Board, Department of Workforce Services and Pacific Flyway Wholesale : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

### **JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT**

Court of Appeals has jurisdiction of appeals from the Work Force Appeals Board pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 35A-4-508(8)(a)(1998).

### **STATEMENT OF ISSUES**

1. Whether Bowdrey voluntarily quit or was discharged by his employer.
2. If Bowdrey did voluntarily quit, whether good cause existed for quitting.
3. If he did quit, and good cause did not exist, whether Bowdrey should have received unemployment benefits under the standard of equity and good conscience.

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

1. Factual Findings by the Department of Work Force Appeals Board are a mixed question of law and fact and are therefore reviewable under a substantial evidence standard of review. *Utah Code Ann. §63G-4-403(4)(g)(2008).*
2. The Board's decision regarding voluntariness is reviewable under an abuse of discretion standard. *Robinson v. Dept. of Employment Security*, 827 P.2d 250, 252 (Utah Ct. App. 1992).

### **STATUTORY PROVISIONS**

1. Utah Code Ann. § 35A-4-508(8)(a)(1998)
2. Utah Code Ann. §63G-4-403(4)(g)(2008)
3. Utah Admin. Code R 994-405-201
4. Utah Admin. Code R. 994-405-102
5. Utah Admin. Code R. 994-405-101(1)
6. Utah Admin. Code R. 994-405-103

### **STATEMENT OF CASE**

Bowdrey was discharged and therefore, did not voluntarily quit. Even if he did voluntarily quit, he had good cause. Bowdrey's discharge was in contradiction to the standard of equity and good conscience.

### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

The following facts are undisputed.

1. Kenneth Bowdrey ("Bowdrey") was employed by Pacific Flyway Wholesale for over one year. [Apx 029 ]
2. In August 2008 Bowdrey switched working from the weekend shifts to weekday shifts. The shift started on Monday and concluded on the following Thursday. [Apx 030]



3. Bowdrey missed work on Thursday, August 21, 2008. [Apx 025]
4. On the following work day, Monday, August 25, 2008, Bowdrey's employer confirmed by telephone with a Workforce Services caseworker that Bowdrey was not working at the company. [Apx 034]
5. His employer determined that in accordance with its written policy, Bowdrey voluntarily quit for failing to telephone the employer on August 21, 2008. [Apx 034]
6. During the first and only week Bowdrey worked the day shift, he did not have a car. Instead, he took the bus to the stop nearest his employer, then walked over three miles to his place of employment and then back to the stop upon completion of his shift. Bowdrey developed resulting leg and foot problems and could not go to work. [Apx 027]
7. Bowdrey moved into a motel that did not have a telephone in the room. [Apx 026-27]
8. Because Bowdrey had foot problems, he could not walk to the front desk to see if a phone was available. [Apx 027]
9. Before Bowdrey was released he had never missed a day of work. [Apx 027]
10. Bowdrey was never late for work. [Apx 027]

11. Bowdrey thought that the employer had a “three strikes” rule. [Apx 032]

12. According to his employer, Bowdrey was a great employee, outstanding, and received an award of Employee of the Month. [Apx 031, 034]

The following fact is disputed:

1. Whether a written policy existed calling a failure to contact an employer a voluntary quit. [Apx 034]

**SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The employer denied unemployment benefits to Bowdrey. Appellee Board abused its discretion in determining that Bowdrey was the “moving party” pursuant to Utah Code Ann. §35A-4-405, Utah Admin. Code R994 - 405 -201. Bowdrey did not voluntarily quit. Rather, he was discharged by his employer for failing to appear at work for one day. Bowdrey’s shift had recently changed from weekends to weekdays, as the result of personal reasons. At the time of his termination, he had just started that week (in August 2008) working ten hours per day, Mondays through Thursdays. He was not therefore scheduled to work Friday to Sunday. His employer claimed to have a “no show” policy that required immediate termination but failed to produce the policy before the telephonic administrative hearing.

Bowdrey failed to show up for work, for the first time ever, because he had health issues (swollen feet.) No phone existed in his run-down motel room, so he could not call his employer. His employer knew of his personal situation but did not know about the lack of phone use.

Because the employer determined Bowdrey's final day of work, the employer became the "moving party," and Bowdrey was therefore discharged. In accordance with Utah Code Ann. §35A-4-405, R 994 – 405-102, then, the Board's determination that Bowdrey did not have "good cause" to quit was not supported by substantial evidence.

A review of the "totality of the employment situation," including the record as a whole, shows that the Board did not produce the best evidence that Bowdrey violated written company policy-the policy itself. At the administrative hearing (which factual findings were adopted by the Appeals Board), the employer merely testified as to the existence of the policy. It gave a brief summary of the alleged language of the policy. The record therefore contains no evidence of Bowdrey's purported violation.

In the alternative, even if Bowdrey did not have "good cause" to quit, mitigating factors existed to support the exception to the "good cause" provision of the statute: "equity and good conscience." In accordance with Utah Code Ann. §35A-4-405(1), Utah Admin. Code R-994-405-102 and -103, Bowdrey

suffered hardship and had no reasonable alternative to missing work for one day. The following facts were uncontested: Bowdrey did not have personal transportation, his employer knew of his situation and thereby changed Bowdrey's shift from a weekend one to a ten-hour per day shift, Mondays to Thursdays, no phone existed in Bowdrey's motel room, Bowdrey did not know if the people at the front desk of the motel (a shoddy one) would allow him to use their phone, and as the result of walking three and one-half miles to work, from the bus stop, he injured his feet. Bowdrey was entitled to unemployment benefits.

### **ARGUMENT**

Utah Code Ann. §63G-4-403(4)(g)(2008) provides that a person is ineligible for benefits if that person "left work voluntarily without good cause, if so found by the Division. . . ." Voluntarily leaving employment without good cause makes a claimant ineligible for unemployment benefits. *See, Robinson v. Dept. of Employment Security*, 827 P.2d 250, 252 (Utah Ct. App. 1992) [citing the statute's predecessor, §63-46b-16(4)(g) (1997)]. On the other hand, discharge without cause makes one eligible for benefits.

#### **I. BOWDREY WAS DISCHARGED WITHOUT CAUSE.**

The employer made the first step in determining the date of the actual separation. *Arrow Legal Solutions Group, Inc. v. Dept. of Workforce Services*, 156 P.3d 830, 832 (Utah Ct. App. 2007) (citing Utah Admin. Code R 994-405-201.)

By making the initial move to terminate the relationship, the employer discharged Bowdrey. *Id.* During the hearing, the employer failed to produce a copy of the relevant portions of the employment handbook, purportedly showing that any failure to contact the employer would be considered as a voluntary quit. In fact, Bowdrey thought that the employer had a “three strikes” rule, indicating his perception of the actual policy. The employer testified otherwise. Testimony of the employment policy, without its production, constituted hearsay and a violation of the best evidence rule.

## **II. IF BOWDREY VOLUNTARILY QUIT, GOOD CAUSE EXISTED FOR QUITTING.**

In determining whether an agency decision is supported by substantial evidence, this court must consider the whole record before the lower court. Utah Code Ann. § 63G-4-403(4)(g) . The whole record review under the substantial evidence test considers the evidence in support of the administrative finding, as well as evidence that detracts from the finding. *Id.* (Cited in *Martinez v. Media-Paymaster Plus/Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-Day Saints*, 164 P.3d 384, 391 (Utah 2007). To successfully challenge an agency’s factual findings, the party “must marshal [sic] all of the evidence supporting the findings and show that despite the supporting facts, and in light of the conflicting or contradictory evidence, the findings are not supported by substantial evidence.” *Id.* at 390.

“Substantial evidence exists when the factual findings support ‘more than a mere scintilla of evidence...though something less than the weight of the evidence.’” *Grace Drilling Co. v. Bd. Of Review of Indus. Comm’n*, 776 P.2d 63, 68 (Utah Ct.App. 1989.)

In this case, a review of the whole record reveals that the ALJ made her decision solely based upon testimony of the employer and Bowdrey. The employer based his testimony on a purported employment policy that it did not produce. Specifically, the employer testified that the company had a policy where if one did not show up for work or call by the end of the shift, the person would be considered to have voluntarily quit. Bowdrey did not have the opportunity to review the policy or to examine the employer on its contents. The employer’s testimony was therefore hearsay and a violation of the best evidence rule. Since the policy must be disregarded, less than a “mere scintilla” of evidence was produced, precluding the existence of substantial evidence.

Good cause is a mixed question of law and fact. *See, Adams v. Bd. of Review of the Industrial Commission of Utah*, 776 P.2d 639, 642 (Utah Ct. Appeals 1989). The Board’s application of law to its factual findings will not be disturbed unless its determination “exceeds the bounds of reasonableness and rationality.” *Johnson v. Dept. of Employment Sec.*, 782 P.2d 965, 968 (Utah Ct. App. 1989). “To establish good cause, a claimant must show that continuing

employment would have caused an adverse affect which the claimant could not control or prevent. The claimant must show an immediate severance of the employment relationship was necessary.” Utah Admin.Code R. 994-405-102.

Bowdrey had good cause not to show for work or call during that one day. He testified that he did not have a phone and that he suffered from swollen feet from walking over six miles per day and additionally standing on his feet for eight to nine hours per day. He had just lost the use of his car and to move from his previous home into a motel room. He explained the situation to his employer who initially accommodated him by changing Bowdrey’s shift the week before Bowdrey was released. Bowdrey therefore could not comply with the alleged policy. As a result, Bowdrey was not the “moving party” in ending the employment relationship. Utah Admin. Code R. 994-405-101(1). The employer was the moving party because it discharged Bowdrey. *Id.* 994-405-201. Bowdrey had no intentions of quitting his job. *See, Arrow*, 156 P.3d at 832.

The separation was “ motivated by circumstances which made continuation of the employment a hardship or matter of real concern sufficiently adverse to a reasonable person to outweigh the benefits of remaining employed.” Utah Admin. Code R. 994-405-201 (cited in *Brown v. Workforce Appeals Board*, 1999 WL 33244666 (Utah App. 1999) It was reasonable and prudent for Bowdrey to not go into work on that Thursday and not to call. The undisputed testimony

shows that he had no access to a phone. Significantly, he had to walk almost seven miles per day, thereby injuring his feet while trying to get to work. Bowdrey's decision to protect his health was therefore reasonable.

Bowdrey's employer had awarded Bowdrey as "Employee of the Month." The employer testified that Bowdrey was an outstanding and excellent employee. The employer had never issued any written warnings to Bowdrey regarding his job performance. *See, Arrow*, 156 P.3d at 831. Bowdrey had never missed a day of work before this incident and in fact had worked at the employer for over one year. He was never late. The employer therefore knew that Bowdrey was reliable and responsible. Bowdrey only missed one day. The employer therefore understood that unusual circumstances must have existed for Bowdrey not to show up.

### **III. UNDER THE STANDARD OF EQUITY AND GOOD CONSCIENCE, BOWDREY SHOULD NOT HAVE BEEN RELEASED.**

In determining if the Board's decision was contrary to the equity and good conscience standard, the court must assess "the totality of the employment situation" before awarding benefits under this standard. *Adams v. Bd. of Review*, 776 P.2d at 641 (citing *Salt Lake City Corp., v. Dept. of Employment Sec.*, 657 P.2d 1312, 1317 (Utah 1982)). Even if Bowdrey were determined to have made the initial move to separate the relationship, equity and good conscience required the employer to maintain Bowdrey's employment status. As previously discussed,



Bowdrey had not been disciplined, had received an Employee of the Month award, was noted to be an excellent and outstanding employee, and endured physical pain in walking almost seven miles per day from the bus stop, and did not have access to a telephone. He had no reasonable basis to believe he would be released. He only missed one day of a new shift. The employer suffered no harm.