2009

# Kenneth Bowdrey v. Workforce Appeals Board, Department of Workforce Services and Pacific Flyway Wholesale : Brief of Respondent

Utah Court of Appeals

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

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS**

There is substantial evidence in the record to show the claimant voluntarily quit his employment without good cause making him ineligible for unemployment benefits. The denial of benefits is not an affront to fairness under the equity and good conscience provisions of the rules. The ALJ and the Board adjudicated all relevant issues, and none of the decisions issued was arbitrary or capricious.

## **ARGUMENT**

### **POINT I**

#### **THE EMPLOYER PROVIDED SUFFICIENT PROOF OF ITS ATTENDANCE POLICY.**

The General Manager of the employer company testified during the hearing that the employer's attendance policy provides if an employee misses a full day of work and fails to call in by the end of his or her shift, the employer will consider the employee to have quit. The same witness testified that the attendance policy is contained in the employer's manual which is provided to all employees at the time of hire. The claimant did not object to this testimony nor did he challenge the testimony during the hearing. While at one point the claimant alluded to an alleged three strikes rule, he did not argue that the employer had such a rule or that such a rule would apply to no call, no shows.

The claimant argues on appeal that because the employer did not provide a copy of its written attendance policy prior to or during the hearing, the testimony of the General Manager is insufficient to establish the policy existed. The claimant raises this objection for the first time in his brief to this court. Throughout these proceedings, the claimant has never alleged he did not know what the employer's policy was or that he did not know he might lose his job if he was a no call, no show. Because the claimant did not challenge the testimony of the General Manager during the hearing, it was not necessary for the employer to provide a copy of the policy. The claimant did say that another employee was allowed to keep her job after "three strikes," but the employer denied that. If the claimant had

provided testimony that he did not know he could be discharged for one occurrence, a copy of the employer's policy might have been required to resolve the conflict. Additionally, if the claimant had raised the issue during the hearing, the employer may have been given an opportunity to provide a copy of its policy.

Department rule R994-508-109(11) provides that a party must send documentary evidence to the ALJ in advance of the hearing. That same rule also states if a party has good cause for not providing those documents in advance of the hearing, "the documents will be admitted after provisions are made to insure due process is satisfied." By not objecting to the testimony of the General Manager at the time of the hearing, and waiting until now to raise this issue, the employer is deprived of an opportunity to show good cause.

This court has consistently held that "issues not raised in proceedings before administrative agencies are not subject to judicial review except in exceptional circumstances." *Brown & Root Indus. v. Industrial Comm'n* 947 P2d 671, 677 (Utah 1997) as cited in *Galley v. Dep't of Workforce Services*, 2003 UT App 277. The claimant has not shown any exceptional circumstances which would allow him to raise this issue now and the court should not consider it.

The ALJ found the testimony of the General Manager to be credible on the issue of the employer's policy regarding attendance. There was ample evidence to support that credibility determination. Without an objection raised by the claimant during the hearing, that testimony was sufficient to prove the employer's policy. While the claimant now seems

to argue that he did not know of the policy, or that the policy was not as it was described by the General Manager, that argument is not consistent with his actions at the time.

After missing work on Thursday, August 21, 2008, the claimant did not return to work for his next scheduled shift which was August 25, 2008. By that date his feet were healed but instead of reporting to work, the claimant went to the Department's office to apply for benefits. If the claimant believed he still had a job, or he believed the employer had a three strikes rule, he would have reported for work once his feet were healed instead of applying for benefits. Although the claimant testified he called the employer on August 25, 2008, the employer's witnesses denied that he called. If the claimant had called the employer that day, he would have learned of the job separation yet he testified that he learned he had been separated from his job when the Department representative called his employer while he was in the Department's office on August 25. (R, 34:39-40) Finally, the claimant told the Department representative that he knew that the job separation was "his fault and not his employer's" and that he "should have asked for time off. . . but he wasn't thinking straight." (Exhibit 9) The ALJ found the employer's witnesses more credible on the issue of whether the claimant knew of the policy and whether the claimant called the employer on August 25.

The employer proved that its attendance policy provided that if an employee failed to report for one shift without calling, the employer will treat it as a quit.

## **POINT II**

### **THE CLAIMANT QUIT HIS EMPLOYMENT, HE WAS NOT DISCHARGED.**

The claimant argues that he did not quit his employment nor did he intend to quit his employment. In support of his argument the claimant states in his brief that the employer made "the initial move to terminate the relationship" by telling the Department representative the claimant had quit. The Board disagrees. The claimant made "the initial move" by not reporting to work as scheduled, by not calling the employer as required, and by then applying for benefits. Department rules provide that it is not which party made "the initial move to terminate the relationship" that determines whether a job separation is a quit or a discharge but rather, which party was the moving party in ending the relationship. A separation is considered a quit under R994-405-101 if the claimant leaves existing work or refuses to follow instructions.

Department rule R994-405-106(1) provides that if "the claimant refused or failed to follow reasonable requests or instructions, and knew the loss of employment would result, the separation is a quit. . . ." The employer's policy provided that one no call, no show would be considered a quit. It is reasonable for an employer to require an employee call in when the employee is unable to report to work. When an employee fails to call in, the employer does not know if the employee will be absent all day or just late. Without knowing, the employer is unable to balance the workload in the employee's absence. Although he denies it now, the claimant's actions at the time show he knew his failure to call in on August 21 would result in him being separated from his job. Otherwise he would not have applied for



benefits the next work day without talking to the employer. The claimant admitted the separation was his fault and not the employer's and he should have asked for time off. Under Department rules, that is a quit because he failed to follow a reasonable request of calling in knowing it would result in the loss of employment.

In *Duong v. Department of Workforce Services*, 2001 UT App 390, the claimant failed to follow her supervisor's instructions. Duong contended that she should not have been "required to follow her supervisor's instructions if she did not agree with them." In upholding the Board's denial of benefits this court held:

Under the agency's rules, "if a worker refused to follow the reasonable requests or instructions knowing the loss of employment would result, the separation is a quit." *Utah Code Admin. P. R994-405-204(3)*. Accordingly, the Board determined that Duong voluntarily quit her job without good cause. "In reviewing these issues, we defer to the agency and we will not overturn its decisions regarding voluntariness and good cause unless we determine it has abused its discretion." *Robinson v. Dep't of Employment Sec.*, 827 P.2d 250, 252 (*Utah Ct. App.* 1992).

Department Rule R994-405-204 provides the Department determines whether a job separation is a quit or a discharge based on the circumstances of the separation as found by the Department. Here the claimant's actions show he was the moving party and that he intended to end his job with the employer. Not only did he fail to report to work on August 21 or call, but he went to the Department on the next work day, August 25, 2008, to apply for benefits. Additionally, he told the Department representative that he was at fault in the separation, not the employer, and he should have asked for time off. The Department, the ALJ, and a unanimous Board found that, by his actions, he voluntarily quit his job.

In the similar case of *Lanier v. Industrial Comm'n*, 694 P. 2d 625 (Utah 1985), the claimant failed to report for work four days in a row. On the first day, the claimant's daughter called the employer to report he would be absent. The claimant testified that his daughter called on the fourth day also but the claimant's supervisor testified she did not receive a call from the daughter on the fourth day. The employer in that case had a policy that provided employees must call in every day and if an employee fails to show up for work or call in for three consecutive days it would result in discharge. The Board in that case found that the daughter did not call on the fourth day and the facts supported a finding that the claimant voluntarily quit his job. The Board based that decision on the claimant's failure to contact the employer for three days as per that employer's policy. In upholding the Board's determination that the job separation was a quit and not a discharge, this court held:

The burden of proof in unemployment compensation proceedings is on the claimant to establish eligibility for benefits. In the context of this case, this burden required plaintiff to show he did not leave work voluntarily. In previously construing section 35-4-5(a), [35A-4-405(1)] we have stated that "'voluntarily' simply means at the volition of the employee, in contrast to a firing or other termination at the behest of the employer." Whether an employee left work at his own volition or at that of the employer is a question of fact. In reviewing decisions of the commission in unemployment compensation proceedings, we are to affirm factual determinations if they are supported by substantial evidence. There is substantial evidence on the record in this case to support the board's finding that plaintiff left work voluntarily, that is, at his own volition.

There is substantial evidence in this case to support finding the claimant quit his employment either by not following the employer's reasonable instructions to call in or by not reporting to work and applying for benefits instead.

### **POINT III**

#### **THE CLAIMANT DID NOT ESTABLISH GOOD CAUSE FOR VOLUNTARILY QUITTING HIS EMPLOYMENT, AND A DENIAL OF BENEFITS IS NOT AN AFFRONT TO FAIRNESS UNDER THE EQUITY AND GOOD CONSCIENCE STANDARD.**

To be eligible for benefits in a voluntary quit, the claimant bears the burden of proving he either had good cause for severing the employment relationship, or that it would be an affront to fairness to deny benefits under the equity and good conscience provisions of 35A-4-405(1)(a). (See Addendum A) The claimant failed to meet his burden of proof.

The good cause provision, Department rule R994-405-102, provides that a claimant must show that an immediate severance of the employment relationship was necessary to avoid a hardship the claimant could not control or prevent. (See Addendum A)

Hardship requires a showing that the job had an adverse effect causing "actual or potential physical, mental, economic, personal or professional harm . . . [as] measured against the actions of an average individual, not one who is unusually sensitive." The claimant testified that he was unable to show up for work because his feet were sore from walking from the bus stop to work and back, as well as being on his feet during the shift. There is no evidence that the claimant suffered actual or potential harm by calling the employer to inform it of his physical limitations. Additionally, the claimant's testimony was not entirely credible. He testified that he had to walk three plus miles from the bus stop to work, stand "for eight or nine hours," then "run" to catch the last bus home from work. ( R, 27:13-15) Prior to his last week of work, the claimant had been working 12 hour shifts doing the same work he was

doing when he quit. He failed to explain how walking to and from the bus stop and working shorter shifts was harder on his feet than working 12 hour shifts. The claimant also failed to explain why he had to "run" to catch the last bus after work. The claimant's shift ended at 3:30 p.m. It is presumed that the last bus would not have been before 5 p.m. Additionally, while the claimant did not have a telephone in his motel room, there was a telephone at the front office of the motel. The claimant's testimony that his feet were too sore to walk to the front office was not persuasive.

The Board is not unsympathetic to the claimant's problems but they do not rise to the level of hardship contemplated by the rule. Under the quit rule the hardship must be so adverse that the claimant had no reasonable alternative to quitting and that the situation was beyond the claimant's ability to control or prevent. The claimant failed to prove that quitting was his only option. The claimant could have asked if another employee could drive him to and from the bus stop or taken a taxi cab. While that might not seem financially practical, it was better than the claimant quitting his job and having no income at all. He might have also asked his girlfriend to take him to and from work since he was a half owner of the car.

In addition to showing hardship and the inability to control the situation, the good cause rule requires proof that the employer was given notice and an opportunity "to make changes that would eliminate the need to quit. An employee with grievances must have made a good faith effort to work out the differences with the employer before quitting unless those efforts would have been futile." R994-405-102(1)(b)(iii). The claimant failed to tell the employer of his problems and failed to show that those efforts would have been futile.

Employers are required to reimburse the Department for unemployment benefits paid to its former employees. For that reason, the employer must be given an opportunity to try and correct a problem and avoid the need for unemployment benefits if possible. The General Manager testified that the claimant was a good employee and had in fact been awarded the employee of the month award in the past. The employer had no intention of discharging the claimant. If the claimant had contacted the employer and explained that he was unable to walk to and from the bus stop in addition to working his shift, the employer might have been able to help the claimant find alternative transportation. Instead the claimant chose to simply not show up for work. There is no evidence the claimant believed the employer would not be willing to work with him on his transportation issues. In fact, the claimant admitted he should have asked for time off and the separation was his fault. His failure to discuss the problem with the employer was not reasonable. Finally, the claimant had asked the employer to change his schedule to accommodate his needs and the employer promptly complied. There is no evidence the employer would not have helped here.

This court has consistently held that "unemployment compensation is legislatively created to ameliorate the hardship of those who, through no fault of their own, find themselves unemployed." *Swiecicki v. Department of Employment Sec.*, 667 P.2d 28, 30 (Utah 1983) The court has also held "the termination is considered voluntary if it was 'at the volition of the employee, in contrast to a firing or other termination at the behest of the employer.'" *Adams v. Board of Review*, 776 P.2d 639, 641 (Utah Ct. App. 1989). The claimant is not unemployed through no fault of his own.

As this court stated in *Slane v. Department of Workforce Services, et. al.*, 2000 UT App 67, "having a 'good reason' to quit and having 'good cause' to quit are not the same thing." It is not at all clear the claimant even had a good reason to quit, let alone good cause. The claimant has failed to meet his burden to establish that any of the elements of good cause were met.

Department rule R994-405-107(6) provides:

If a claimant quits a job due to a lack of transportation, good cause may be established if the claimant has no other reasonable transportation options available. However, an availability issue may be raised in such a circumstance. If a move resulted in an increased distance to work beyond normal commuting patterns, the reason for the move, not the distance to the work, is the primary factor to consider when adjudicating the separation.

This rule is not controlling because the claimant did not prove he had no other reasonable transportation options. The claimant did not ever investigate other transportation options. A claimant is responsible for providing his or her own transportation to and from work. A claimant is not considered to be able and available for work if he or she does not have the means to become employed which includes transportation under Department rule R994-403-110c(2)(b). The claimant worked the new shift only three days before quitting and failed to look for other transportation options. His actions do not establish good cause under the rule cited above.

According to the Utah Administrative Code, if good cause is not established, the claimant's eligibility must be considered under the equity and good conscience standard under Department rule R994-405-103. (See Addendum A)

The equity and good conscience rule requires a showing that "there were mitigating circumstances, and a denial of benefits would be unreasonably harsh or an affront to fairness . . . ." The rule also requires that the claimant show the decision to quit was reasonable. Reasonable is defined as: "logical, sensible, or practical. There must be evidence of circumstances which . . . would have motivated a reasonable person to take similar action." Finally, the claimant must prove a continuing attachment to the labor market. The claimant testified he was performing a job search during the hearing. He is presumably attached to the labor market although his transportation problems might make him unavailable under R944-403-110c. The claimant's actions however, were not reasonable nor were there mitigating circumstances of the type contemplated by the rule.

As this court held in *Pritcher v. Department of Employment Sec.*, 752 P.2d 917 (Utah, 1988):

. . . the equity and good conscience provision is not an occasion for a free-wheeling judicial foray into the record and imposition of a decision consistent with this panel's collective sense of equity and fairness. On the contrary, that determination is one for the Department and ultimately the Board of Review, *see* Utah Code Ann. §35-4-5(a) (1987), [now §35A-4-405(1)(b)] with this court's role limited, as explained above, to deciding whether the findings support a decision that "equity and good conscience" do not require compensation and whether "evidence of any substance" supports the findings. We are obliged to give considerable deference to the Board's determination of whether equity requires compensation. Moreover, the concept is not as wide-open as it might seem, but rather has been defined and refined by statute, *id.*; by rule, Utah Administrative Code R475-5a-3 (1988); and by case law, *e.g.*, *Chapman v. Industrial Comm'n*, 700 P.2d 1099, 1101-02 (Utah 1985); *Salt Lake City Corp. v. Department of Employment Sec.*, 657 P.2d 1312, 1317 (Utah 1982).

*Chapman v. Industrial Comm'n*, 700 P.2d 1099 (1985), is the only case this author can find where Utah's appellate courts reversed a Board decision and allowed benefits under the equity and good conscience provision. In that case, the claimant was a 62-year-old woman who proved that her supervisor was erratic, swore at the claimant, accused the claimant of doing things she had not done, and "subjected the claimant to unreasonable fits of anger." The Board denied benefits finding the claimant had an obligation to notify someone in upper management about the problem with the supervisor. The claimant in *Chapman* testified that she did not report the supervisor to upper management because the supervisor was in ill health and the claimant did not want to be the cause of the supervisor losing her job. The Utah Supreme Court found that, given the claimant's age, the intolerable supervisor, and the claimant's explanation for not reporting the supervisor, a denial of benefits would be an affront to fairness.

The facts in the present case are substantially different. The claimant here was 48 years old and had worked at this job for over a year without any problems. Throughout most of that employment, he worked 12 hour shifts on his feet. In August 2008 he experienced some problems in his personal life which resulted in his loss of transportation. He asked the employer to move him to the day shift so he could ride the bus to work. He testified the walk from the bus stop to and from work was over three miles and after working eight to nine hours his feet were too sore to work. He admitted this was a temporary problem as his feet were fine a couple of days later. If the claimant had called his employer when his feet got better and investigated ways to keep his job, the result in this case would probably have been



different. Instead the claimant filed for benefits admitting the job loss was his fault and not the employer's. He admitted that he should have asked for time off implying that with some time off he might have solved his problems. His actions were not reasonable.

The claimant's problems are not the type of mitigating circumstances contemplated by the rule. Many workers experience physical problems from working. The reasonable response is to find a way to alleviate the pain by making adjustments or seeking medical attention. The claimant could have seen a doctor, talked to the employer, found alternative transportation or moved closer to work. A denial of benefits is not an affront to fairness.

#### **POINT IV**

#### **THE CLAIMANT HAS NOT MARSHALED THE EVIDENCE IN SUPPORT OF THE FACTUAL FINDINGS OF THE WORKFORCE APPEALS BOARD.**

The finding that the claimant did not have good cause for quitting was based on competent evidence in the record, primarily, the testimony of the claimant and the employer. In order to successfully challenge this finding, the claimant "must demonstrate that the findings are not supported by substantial evidence when viewed in light of the whole record before the court." The court should reject the claimant's appeal for her failure to marshal the evidence in support of her conclusion that the findings were without foundation. The Board recognizes that the claimant is proceeding pro se and might not be held to the strict procedural standards expected of claimants who are represented by counsel. However, the

burden when challenging a factual finding is an extremely heavy one and the claimant has presented no evidence or arguments sufficient to overcome this burden.

In *Crockett v. Crockett*, 836 P.2d 818 (Utah App. 1992), the court refused to entertain the appellant's factual challenges since the appellant failed to meet its marshaling burden:

[The Appellant] has neither marshaled the evidence in support of the finding nor demonstrated that the finding is clearly erroneous, but instead cites only evidence that supports the outcome she desires. *See Crookston v. Fire Ins. Exch.*, 817 P.2d 789, 800 (Utah 1991) (citing only evidence favorable to one's position "does not begin to meet the marshaling burden. . ."). **We therefore assume that the record supports the finding of the trial court.** *Id.* at 820. [Emphasis added]

This court expanded upon the appellant's burden to marshal the evidence in *Oneida/SLIC v. Oneida Cold Storage and Warehouse, Inc.*, 872 P.2d 1051 (Utah App. 1994):

Utah appellate courts do not take trial courts' factual findings lightly. We repeatedly have set forth the heavy burden appellants must bear when challenging factual findings. *Id.* at 1052.

The court reasoned that to successfully appeal a trial court's findings of fact, "appellate counsel must play the devil's advocate. '[Parties] must extricate [themselves] from the client's shoes and fully assume the adversary's position.'" *Id.* at 1053, citing *West Valley City v. Majestic Inv. Co.*, 818 P.2d 1311, 1315 (Utah Ct. App. 1991). The court further explained that proper marshaling requires the challenger to:

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